IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM HALE, :

Petitioner, :

vs. : Case No.SC03-0166

STATE OF FLORIDA, :

Respondent. :

:

DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA SECOND DISTRICT

AMENDED INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

JAMES MARION MOORMAN PUBLIC DEFENDER TENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

DEBORAH K. BRUECKHEIMER Assistant Public Defender FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 0278734

Public Defender's Office Polk County Courthouse P. O. Box 9000--Drawer PD Bartow, FL 33831 (863) 534-4200

ATTORNEYS FOR PETITIONER

TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On 4-5-99, Petitioner William Hale was to be released from prison after serving his sentence for dealing in stolen property. (V2/R245-254; V13/T65-72; V8/T498; V3/R508-552) However, on that date the State filed a Petition for Civil Commitment pursuant to the Jimmy Ryce Act (hereinafter the Act). (V1/R1-4) Mr. Hale had a jury trial, and on 11-18-99 the jury unanimously found Mr. Hale a sexually violent predator. On that same date the trial court entered a judgment and commitment order. (V3/R476-478; V5-11) Mr. Hale's motion for directed verdict, new trial, and rehearing was timely filed on 11-23-99 and denied on 12-13-99. (V3/R479-486) Mr. Hale's notice of appeal to the Second District was timely filed on 1-24-00. (V3/R487)

On 11-15-02 the Second District issued an opinion denying Mr. Hale relief. The focus of that opinion was whether or not <u>Kansas v. Crane</u>, 534 U.S. 407 (2002), requires a specific jury instruction on the subject of a civil commitment proceeding having serious difficulty controlling his or her behavior. The Second District found no such requirement. The Second District denied a timely filed motion for rehearing, and Mr. Hale timely invoked this Court's jurisdiction based on conflict with decisions arising from the First District.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

During Mr. Hale's trial for civil commitment, there were 3 prior incidents the State mainly relied on to support its position of Mr. Hale's future risk of sexual violence--2 were 26 years old (1973) and 1 was 12 years old (1987).

Mary McCown was outside her home with her child in 1973 when Mr. Hale approached her and forced her and her son into the house at knifepoint. There he forced her to perform oral sex on him. her not to call anyone and then he left. She called the police; and when the police arrested Mr. Hale, he admitted having forced Ms. McCown to have oral sex while he had a knife in his hand. (V7/T356-366,389,390) A week or so later Cindy Boswell was waiting in a locked room at a high school for her mother when Mr. Hale knocked on the door. She let Mr. Hale in, and they were sitting there when Mr. Hale grabbed her from behind. He told her not to scream, and she fought him. He grabbed at her arms and legs. She fell and twisted her ankle. She saw him reaching for a knife on the floor, and she ran to the door. When Mr. Hale was arrested for this, he said he intended to attack her; and the police officer testified he "assumed" this meant "rape" (objection granted, testimony struck, but mistrial denied). Mr. Hale said he did not want to hurt her and did not know what he intended to do--probably would have felt her. No knife was found even though Mr. Hale was arrested immediately afterward at the school, and the charges were dropped. (V7/T370-376,380-386,392-396) It was noted the officer on both cases read from his report -- a report typed up 13 days after the interview and not signed by Mr. Hale, Ms. McCown or Ms. Boswell. (V7/T384-386,397-399)

In 1987 Dana Whitley had a flat tire, and Mr. Hale stopped to help. She went with Mr. Hale to a gas station to get air in the spare tire; and as they were driving back, Mr. Hale passed the car and turned onto a dirt road. He started to touch her and said he wanted to see her tits. When the car stopped, she got out and fought him as he grabbed at her. At one point he choked her and said no one could hear her screaming. He would take her into the woods, and no one would find her. She got away, and Mr. Hale was subsequently arrested. (V10/T689-693) When Mr. Hale was interviewed by an officer, he admitted stopping to help Ms. Whitley with her flat tire, getting air in the flat, going down the dirt road where he grabbed her breasts, and then struggling with her outside the car before she got away. The officer read from her report (she had no independent recollection) as to Mr Hale referring to a 1984 arrest for a sexual offense and his statement that he enjoyed going on Nebraska Avenue to harass whores. The officer knew Mr. Hale pled guilty and was sent to prison. (V7/T400-418)

The State introduced into evidence the judgments and sentences from the McCown and Whitley cases. (V3/R498-507; V7/T419)

The State presented two psychologists who found Mr. Hale likely to reoffend. Dr. Benoit had been a psychologist licensed in Florida for 5 years at the time of trial, but he had not done risk assessment for indefinite civil commitment before 1-1-99. He did not receive training in risk assessment until 7-99--after he had assessed Mr. Hale. Although he had done 821 risk assessments under the Act at the

 $^{^{\}rm 1}$ Out of the 82 assessments, he recommended commitment in 48% of those cases. (V7/T428)

time of trial, he had done very few evaluations (16-30) prior to Mr. Hale's. He testified in 6 probable cause hearings, but this was his first trial. (V7/T422-430; V8/T534,535) He was paid by the State \$125 per hour and had put several hours into this case. (V8/T492-494) Although his contract prohibits him from assigning or subletting his work and he had no permission to do so in this case, he worked with an unlicensed doctor of psychology on this case. When he said in his 9/99 deposition he did not write the report in this case (believing the unlicensed doctor had written it), he had since decided this was wrong and he had written the report. (V7/T430; V8/T506,507) He was "confused" at the deposition when he gave wrong information as to what score numbers and risk percentage meant -- at the deposition he said those scoring 5 on a particular test had a 60% chance of reoffending, but the correct statement is a score of 5 or higher with a total possible score of 17. (V8/T514) He also said the name "William Fussell" in the report was a scrivener's error because he was using an old report "for the format." (V8/T481,482) doctor's opinion grabbing or touching a breast without permission and looking in a window (loitering and prowling) are sexually violent offenses. (V8/T537-540,542-543)

After telling Mr. Hale at the start of the interview he has the right not to be interviewed, there is no confidentiality, and the report could go to the State Attorney's office for purposes of involuntary civil commitment, Dr. Benoit also told Mr. Hale what was in the reports brought the doctor here; so not participating would not be very good because a recommendation for commitment would be based on the reports. Mr. Hale also would have been told that often

the doctor discovers from the interview the risk factor is lower than the reports indicate and telling details of the offense does not necessarily mandate involuntary commitment. (V8/T441-442,497) face-to-face interview is considered a critical portion of the risk factor analysis. (V8/T442) After Mr. Hale discussed details of prior incidents, the doctor found Mr. Hale attempting to minimize the events by describing himself in a favorable light which, in turn, demonstrated Mr. Hale had not been successfully treated in his prior treatment programs. (V8/T469,470) If a person has successfully completed sex offender treatment, they should have learned to talk honestly about what they have done. (V8/T457) In the McCown incident Mr. Hale's version was he ended up in her house, asked her to have sex, and when she said she was menstruating he asked for oral sex. When she refused, he left. (V8/T450,451) At the time Mr. Hale had just returned to the United States after military service and was depressed and angry. (V8/T449,450) In the Whitley incident Mr. Hale described getting the tire filled and then driving past the car onto a dirt road. He then touched her breasts "sexually" (the doctor added the word "sexually"). (V8/T466, 467, 536) At that time Mr. Hale was unemployed, having problems finding a new job, and having problems with his wife. (V8/T465, 466) Dr. Benoit spoke with two of the victims because he wanted to know how this had affected their lives and what were their symptoms (objection, trial court struck, mistrial denied). (V8/T446-448)

In Mr. Hale's interview, he talked about other sex-related offenses. The doctor considered voyeurism (looking into windows/loitering and prowling) to be sex-related, and Mr. Hale

talked about several of these acts--8/82, 1/91. In 11/82 Mr. Hale talked about having drinks with a woman, going for a walk, the woman losing her balance, and then falling on top of her. He changed his story to walking behind a woman he did not know, putting his hand on her shoulder, and she fell. (V8/T457-463) In 1984 Mr. Hale gave a ride to Heidi Rusfall; and when he went to open the broken (not locked) door by reaching over her, he accidentally touched her breast. Then Mr. Hale said he intentionally touched her breast, and he later said he punched her in the breast. The doctor spoke to Ms. Rusfall, but she did not testify. (V8/T463-465)

Although Mr. Hale had not committed a sexually violent offense since 1987, the doctor considered the 1991 loitering and prowling offenses sex-related. In 1973 Mr. Hale told Ms. McCown he had been watching her and her husband have sex, so the doctor considered all of the loitering and prowling sex-related based on that. (V8/T498-500,567) The doctor had no specific facts on the loitering and prowling. (V8/T468) The doctor knew Mr. Hale had gone to prison for the 11/87 offense and for the dealing in stolen property offense, but he also knew there were gaps when Mr. Hale was not in prison. At one point Mr. Hale was in Louisiana, and "God knows what happened there." (V8/T556,557)

Dr. Benoit gave Mr. Hale some tests, but there were problems with these tests. The MMPI results were normal, but the doctor rejected these results because he believed Mr. Hale was not normal and should not have scored normal. (V8/T471) Mr. Hale was given the MMPI-2 test by the Dept. of Corrections and got consistent results with the test given by the doctor. The doctor said the MMPI-2 test

results were also invalid based on Mr. Hale's history. Dr. Benoit admitted it was improper to call MMPI-2 results invalid just because he did not agree with the results, but he maintained the results were not valid. (V8/T510, 511) On direct examination Dr. Benoit said his results from the MSOST-R scored Mr. Hale in the 87%-reoffend-within-6-years range. (V8/T489) On cross-examination he admitted giving Mr. Hale the MSOST once and the revised MSOST-R twice, and this time the doctor said he scored Mr. Hale at 5 which meant only 60% of the people reoffend for those who score 5 or higher up to 17. After admitting he had been "confused" as to how to interpret the score, it was pointed out that in Minnesota (where the test was developed) they have 3 categories -- low, moderate, and high. A 7 is considered moderate, and the revised table shows a score of 4-7 is in a 45% rate to reoffend. That 45% is based on averaging 4-7, and there is no specific percentage on what 5 is. (V8/T513-517) Even though the cut off in Minnesota is 15 and Mr. Hale is only a moderate risk under the tables, the doctor believes even low scores present a significant risk. He also noted that in Florida there is no moderate classification as in Minnesota. (V8/T544-547) On the RRASOR test Mr. Hale scored 4 which has a recidivism rate of 32.7% in 5 years. doctor's opinion you need 51% for recidivism to be more likely. A 32.7% is only a moderate risk. (V8/T511-513) He admitted he did not give Mr. Hale the Psychopathy Checklist that measures empathy, callousness, glibness, grandiose, self-worth, lying, manipulative, and early behavior problems; but Dr. Benoit still gave the opinion that Mr. Hale has no conscience based solely on clinical judgment. (V8/T518,519) He admitted that denial and lack of victim empathy are

not risk factors for reoffending, but he believed having no conscience is a risk factor. (V8/T522)

In Dr. Benoit's opinion because of his substantial criminal history and number of documented sex offenses, Mr. Hale had a persistent and pervasive disorder that qualified him for a personality disorder with anti-social features. This disorder is a long-term pattern that is persistent and encompasses many facets of function-Many of the incidents Mr. Hale described were impulsive; and when you combine committing crimes with impulsiveness, you have a personality disorder with a charge. Mr. Hale does not handle stress appropriately. Looking at the whole picture -- number of incidents, difficulty controlling his behavior even though he has been to prison several times--Mr. Hale is a high risk for another sexually related offense. He could be amenable to treatment, but it would take some time because it's a long-standing pattern like a habit. (V8/T472-479) Dr. Benoit considers Mr. Hale a menace to the health and safety to others because of his propensity to commit acts of sexual violence, and he needs long term care and treatment in a secured environment. (V8/T487,488)

Dr. Gregory Pritchard, a licensed Psy.D in psychology (as opposed to the traditional Ph.D in philosophy) in Florida since 1996, also testified for the State. He has worked at Florida State Hospital in Chattahoochee since 1994. He has evaluated about 40 people for purposes of the Act, and he recommended commitment for about 40%

 $^{^2}$ The doctor believed Mr. Hale came closest to an anti-social personality disorder, but that diagnosis requires evidence of problems by the age of 15. Because this did not exist, the classification is "NOS" (not otherwise specified). (V8/T525)

of those. Prior to interviewing Mr. Hale, he had only evaluated 6 or 7 others. (V9/T601-608,650) He received some training after he evaluated Mr. Hale. (V9/T606,649,653)

At the time of the interview he told Mr. Hale there would not be any confidentiality and this was for commitment after release; he did not say what Mr. Hale said could be used against him in court. (V9/T648,649) He spoke with Mr. Hale for about 90 minutes. Without giving specifics the doctor said Mr. Hale talked around his past crimes and gave a different version in some cases that showed he was minimizing and denying events in order to show himself in a more favorable light. Mr. Hale was not being honest and taking responsibility, he was trying to con and manipulate people, and he was in denial about his problems without motivation to change. (V9/T611,612,635-637) Dr. Pritchard also interviewed 3 victims—McCown, Whitley and Queen—in order to verify what was in the police reports, to know how they felt, and to see if they feared for their

McCown, Whitley and Queen--in order to verify what was in the police reports, to know how they felt, and to see if they feared for their lives--in spite of his presumption that the information in the file was reliable. (V9/T612-614)

The doctor went through Mr. Hale's criminal history year-by-year (1973, 1982, 1984, 1987, 1990, 1991) and considered all to be sexually motivated with the possible exception of the 1990 violation of community control. He concluded Mr. Hale was not learning as he was making the same mistakes and was not listening to authority or abiding by laws. (V9/T619-635) In Dr. Pritchard's opinion Mr. Hale meets the commitment criteria under the Act. He has had multiple convictions for sex offenses spanning 2-3 decades, he has a personality disorder, and he is likely to reoffend. The doctor diagnosed Mr.

Hale with an anti-social personality disorder, a provisional diagnosis that has a certain degree of diagnostic uncertainty; but because Mr. Hale did not have symptoms prior to becoming 15, the doctor had to change this initial diagnosis of anti-social personality disorder to personality disorder NOS. Mr. Hale has symptoms of a specific disorder, but does not meet all the criteria; so the personality disorder is not a specific one. (V9/T614-618) Mr. Hale's past treatment has not benefitted him since he committed new crimes after treatment. Mr. Hale has an impulse control problem--when his is having a bad day, he does things on the spur of the moment. Stress is also a factor. Mr. Hale has no long-term plan for a job. (V9/T637-640)

Dr. Pritchard did use some tests. He agreed actuarial instruments are better than strict clinical judgment in isolation. One of the most difficult things to do in clinical work is to predict reoffending. Clinical judgment alone is not used to predict outcome. Even though the reliability of the MSOST³ is low (between 15-30%), the test is still better than clinical judgment. Clinical judgment is nothing more than mere chance of predicting future sexual reoffending. (V9/T658,659) The VRAG is used, but it predicts violence as opposed to sex reoffending. It has a manual, but Dr. Pritchard did not use it. The PCLR is a score that plugs into the VRAG, and Mr. Hale scored 30.5 with the cutoff being 30. However, the doctor omitted points for Mr. Hale not having juvenile problems. That would have lowered the score on the PCLR which in turn would

 $^{^3}$ On the MSOST test (which was replaced by the MSOST-R) Mr. Hale scored 46 and the cutoff is 47. (V9/T656)

have affected the VRAG. The doctor also used Mr. Hale's statements when he did the PCLR, but the manual says self-reporting statements cannot be used to diagnose this disorder reliably. Mr. Hale scored 7 on the VRAG, which goes in the 7-13 range. If there was a mistake, the VRAG would be incorrect. In a range of 7-13 there is a 44% of violent reoffending within 7 years and 58% within 10 years. (V9/T659-670) But even "if" Dr. Pritchard scored Mr. Hale incorrectly on the VRAG and the range changes, the doctor refused to change his opinion Mr. Hale was likely to reoffend. (V9/T670,671) On the RRASOR Mr. Hale scored 4/6 which has a recidivism rate of 32.7% after 5 years and 48.6% after 10 years. In the doctor's opinion 48.6% is a high likelihood. (V9/T642-644)

On Mr. Hale's behalf his brother, sister, and mother testified. They never knew Mr. Hale to have any problems with violence or acting up at school when he was under 15. The family stated they would be supportive upon Mr. Hale's release, and his brother said he could get a job for Mr. Hale. (V10/T704-715; V11/T816-825)

Dr. Ray Lusk, a clinical psychologist licensed in Florida in 1986, has been dealing with sex offenders for about 30 years. He evaluates sexual offenders and sex victims, and he has dealt extensively with anti-social personality disorders. He was on the Commission Against Sexual Assault as a volunteer to help sexual assault victims, has done extensive work in sexual abuse and sexual offender counseling and evaluation, has contracted with the Dept. of Children and Family Services to do sexual violence assessments under the Act, and has done 19 assessments. Out of those 19, he recommended 8 for commitment. Although hired by the Public Defender's Office to

evaluate Mr. Hale, he used the same procedures when doing evaluations for the State. (V10/T715-725)

In general Dr. Lusk noted the following: Dr. Epperson of the Minnesota test says you only need to get the top 16% of reoffenders to get to the worst. Dr. Hanson (another test) says don't look at any other crimes but sex crimes, because the studies clearly show other crimes don't help with the prediction of sexual recidivism. The doctor should not talk to the victims for two reasons: (1) it is not important to do so because it does not give information as to predictors, and (2) the doctor is human and may be affected by emotion. (V10/T726,727,754)

Dr. Lusk's diagnosis was Mr. Hale has a personality disorder NOS. In his opinion there is no diagnosis of a mental abnormality that would predispose Mr. Hale to be in a high risk group of sexual reoffending. Even though Mr. Hale has a personality disorder, it does not predispose him to reoffend. (V10/T738,739,751) On the Psychopathy Checklist Revised Mr. Hale scored 20, and the cutoff is 30 with 30 or above meaning probably a psychopath. When Mr. Hale was interviewed, he showed an appropriate level of anxiety. Mr. Hale appeared forthcoming and honest--including taking personal responsibility for things he had done in the past. When the prosecutor ran through all of Mr. Hale's criminal history on cross-examination, the doctor repeated what Mr. Hale had said about each incident; and Mr. Hale's version was the same as in the reports -- the doctor saw no minimization. (V10/T740-746,759-766) It is, however, normal for a person being interviewed when something is at stake to present themselves in the best light. (V10/T799)

Dr. Lusk looked at other factors that would either raise or lower the risk of reoffending, and he believes the risk has been reduced: Mr. Hale has not been convicted of a sex offense since 1987; he is 48, and at that age the risk of reoffending goes down; his worst sex crime conviction was in 1972--27 years ago; since 1972 his crimes have not grown in intensity; and all of the factors--the instruments, the diagnosis, other factors, and the literature--are consistent. Mr. Hale had not had a DR since 1978; and if he had a real anti-social personality, he would have more DRs since anti-social personality types do not cooperate even in confined situations. Mr. Hale does not meet the criteria for high risk category. (V10/T748,751-754)

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