IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC03-166

WILLIAM HALE,

Petitioner,

vs.

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. Attorney General

RICHARD L. POLIN Florida Bar No. 0230987 Criminal Appeals Bureau Chief -

Miami

Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 444 Brickell Avenue, Suite 950 Miami, Florida 33131 (305) 377-5441 (305) 377-5655 (fax)

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

mental health factors were currently relevant, as explained by incidents which occurred in the distant past. By way of example, in Morton v. State, 789 So. 2d 324, 329-31 (Fla. 2001) (Fla. 2001), the defense had presented evidence of an antisocial personality disorder as mental health mitigation at the penalty phase, and this evidence included such "recent" factual background evidence as the defendant's separation from his mother for several weeks following a premature birth; difficulties during school years; parental discipline during childhood; and other equally distant matters. Such mental health evaluations in capital penalty phase proceedings routinely rely on such distant histories - they present the same potential for relevance of a current mental condition as in the commitment cases. Conversely, if the Appellant's current argument were carried to its logical conclusion, it would seem to suggest that such evidence would have to be irrelevant in capital penalty phase proceedings.

Furthermore, even in Hale's misguided effort to analogize the commitment case to criminal prosecutions, similar factpattern evidence regarding past offenses has routinely been admitted, especially in the context of prior sex offenses, notwithstanding the passage of many years since the prior conduct. For example, in <u>Heuring v. State</u>, 513 So. 2d 122 (Fla. 1987), in a sexual battery prosecution, similar fact evidence of

sexual batteries which occurred over 20 years prior to the instant charges, was deemed relevant, with the District Court of Appeal rejecting the claim of remoteness. <u>Id</u>. at 123. The Supreme Court concurred that the prior conduct was not too remote. <u>Id</u>. at 124.

Another relevant factor to consider is the academic literature, which clearly renders all prior conduct relevant to the assessment of the person's current mental condition and dangerousness. A clinical and forensic psychologist, Harry Hoberman, details the components of a clinical evaluation of an individual in sexual predator commitment proceedings, in "The Forensic Evaluation of Sex Offenders in Civil Commitment Proceedings," Chapter 7, The Sexual Predator: Law, Policy, Evaluation and Treatment (1999 Civic Research Inst., Kingston, N.J.) (eds. Schlank, Anita, and Cohen, Fred. As to general criminal history, Hoberman states:

> Inquiring about apparently nonsexual criminal offenses can be an important source of information about several relevant areas for evaluations of PPSPs [persons petitioned as sexual predators]. First, information can be obtained about the onset, duration, and variety of general antisocial behavior. Second, a history of criminal behavior directed at or involving harm to others can provide useful information relevant to evaluating the respondent's propensity for violent behavior. . .

Id. at 7-24. With respect to sex offense history, Hoberman similarly emphasizes the importance of the clinical interview

developing details of that criminal history. <u>Id</u>. at 7-22 through 7-24. Thus, "[t]he details of an offender's behavior before, during, and after each incident of sexual acting-out has important implications for evaluating the nature (e.g., physical and/or emotional) and degree of harm perpetrated on a particular victim as well as for the total 'set' of an offender's victims.

Hale also argues that a subsequent 1991 loitering and prowling misdemeanor was somehow irrelevant. First, as can be seen from the foregoing, the entire course of a respondent's criminal, sexual and/or violent conduct is relevant to an assessment of the current mental condition and dangerousness. Second, the State's experts opined, based on their interviews of Hale, that prior loitering and prowling incidents were sexually Third, Hale's own expert, Dr. Lusk, similarly motivated. admitted that such other incidents were sexually motivated based upon his interview of Hale. (V10/T. 763-67). Fourth, the only reference to a 1991 incident appears to have been made by Dr. Benoit, in response to a defense question on cross-examination. (V8/T. 498-501). Defense counsel inquired about the last sexually violent offense of Hale, and Benoit responded, placing it at the 1991 incident. Id. Thus, apart from any relevancy arguments, the defense herein clearly can not complain about evidence which was introduced solely through its own questioning. See Norton v. State, 709 So. 2d 87, 94 (Fla. 1997).

Lastly, Hale claims that some of Hale's offenses were not for sexual offense convictions, and that the State could only use such offenses as evidence if it established that they were sexually motivated by clear and convincing evidence. One of these references, again, is to the 1991 loitering and prowling, and, as noted above, the only reference to that incident came as a result of defense counsel's questioning of Dr. Benoit, and Hale can not complain about evidence adduced solely as a result of his own questioning of a witness. Furthermore, Hale asserts, as to the McCown incident, that "Dr. Benoit made up his own sexually related facts based on Mr. Hale's statement to Ms. McCown 26 years ago that he had been watching her and her husband having sex." Brief of Petitioner, p. 41. Contrary to the Hale's assertions, Dr. Benoit did not make anything up; he was clearly relying on a statement that Hale had made. Furthermore, in the McCown incident, the testimony clearly revealed that Hale forced McCown to engage in an act of oral sex and had, in fact, intended to rape Ms. McCown; it is difficult for an offense to be more sexually motivated than that. Lastly, the defense expert, Dr. Lusk, was cross-examined by the State, and, at that time, Lusk admitted that all of the prior incidents which the State elicited testimony were "sexually for motivated." (V10/T. 759-67).

In view of the foregoing, it can not be said that the lower

court abused its discretion in permitting the State to introduce evidence or prior criminal conduct of Hale.

B. Probative Value Exceeds Prejudice

Hale further agues that the remote acts, even if relevant, were unduly prejudicial. As explained in the numerous cases from other jurisdictions encountering similar issues, testimony of prior sexually violent conduct goes to the heart of the commitment case, relating, as it does, to both the mental condition component and the likelihood of recidivism. Under such circumstances, such evidence has routinely been held to be highly relevant, and, even though obviously prejudicial to a respondent, the prejudice does not outweigh the relevancy. Hubbart, supra; Young, supra; Hay; supra.

> IV. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING OBJECTIONS DEFENSE то PROSECUTORIAL WITNESS'S STATEMENTS, TESTIMONY, OR REFERENCES то THE PETITIONER IΝ THE INSTRUCTIONS.

The Petitioner next complains about some half-dozen allegedly improper comments by testifying witnesses. This argument is not the subject of a certified question. While the Court does have discretion to entertain the issue, the claims are clearly of such a nature that the District Court of Appeal should be presumed to be the court of finality.

The Petitioner first asserts that it was reversible error when Officer Rice, recounting Hale's 1973 statement about the Boswell incident, stated: "He said that he had grabbed her and that he meant to rape her, I assume is what he was talking

about." (V7/T. 381). The judge then sustained an objection as to what the officer "assumed," and denied a motion for mistrial. (V7/T. 381-84). Subsequently, the officer related Hale's actual statement, that he did not mean, or want, to hurt Boswell. (V7/T. 385). Hale also stated that since there were "a lot of people there" - it was a high school - and since there were lights on, "I would probably wait until some other time." (V7/T. 386-87). He added: "I had a feeling that I would get caught." (V7/T. 389).

Insofar as the court struck Rice's objectionable assumption, and expressly instructed the jury to disregard that comment (V7/T. 384), any error was cured since it is presumed that jurors will follow a court's instruction to disregard. <u>Greer v.</u> <u>Miller</u>, 483 U.S. 756, 766, n. 8 (1987); <u>Rivers v. State</u>, 226 So. 2d 337, 338-39 (Fla. 1969) (improper witness statement regarding arrest of defendant for out-of-state shooting was not reversible error in murder prosecution where jury was instructed to disregard statement). Moreover, immediately thereafter, the jury heard, in its totality, Hale's verbatim statement, which is, in fact, clearly indicative of the intent to perpetrate a sexual offense. Indeed, even the defense expert, referring to Hale's second incident (which is the Boswell incident), admitted that it was probably sexually motivated. (V10/T. 761). Given this, and the overly abundant evidence of Hale's criminal and

sexual offenses, the Petitioner has not demonstrated prejudice which would affect the outcome of the trial.

The Petitioner next asserts that Deputy Cain was improperly permitted to state that Hale told her, during the Whitley investigation, that he got enjoyment from harassing whores on Nebraska Avenue. (V7/T. 416). This came in the context of other statements that Hale made to Cain, indicating that he knew he had a problem. (V7/T. 416-17). Given that the focus of the commitment case is on mental abnormalities and the likelihood of recidivism, such testimony was clearly proper and relevant.

The Petitioner next complains that Dr. Benoit was permitted to testify that Hale was a "menace" to the health and safety of others because of his propensity to commit acts of sexual violence. (V8/T. 482-85). Benoit was asked if he had an opinion "as to whether Mr. Hale has a propensity to commit acts of sexual violence to such a degree that he poses a danger to himself and others." (V8/T. 482). Over the defense objection, the doctor then testified that in his opinion, Hale's propensity to commit such acts did pose a menace to the health and safety of others. (V8/T. 487).

Such questioning and response were clearly appropriate as the doctor was giving an opinion as to an element of the cause of action that the State had to prove. Pursuant to §394.916, Fla. Stat., the State must prove that the person has a mental

abnormality or personality disorder that makes it likely that th person will engage in sexually violent offenses if not committed. The phrase "likely to engage in acts of sexual violence" is further defined as meaning that "the person's propensity to commit acts of sexual violence is of such a degree as to pose a menace to the health and safety of others." Section 394.912(4), Fla. Stat.. The Florida Evidence Code permits experts to testify to "an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact." Section 90.703, Fla. Stat.. As the jury can render a commitment verdict only if there is proof of the requisite degree of dangerousness, the expert has to be able to give such an opinion. <u>See also Adams v. State</u>, 696 So. 2d 773 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996).

The Petitioner next complains that Dr. Benoit, while discussing Hale's behavioral history, referred to a period of time in Louisiana which was unaccounted for, and commented, "and God knows what happened there," in light of gaps in the record. (V8/T. 557). There was no objection to this statement from the witness, and, as such, any claim based on it is not preserved for appellate review. <u>Pedroza v. State</u>, 773 So. 2d 639, 640-41 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000); <u>Hagan v. Sun Bank of Mid-Florida</u>, 666 So. 2d 580 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996), disapproved of on other grounds, <u>Murphy v. International Robotic Sys. Inc.</u>, 766 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 2000); <u>Swan v. Florida Farm Bureau Ins. Co.</u>, 404 So. 2d 802,

803-804 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

The Petitioner also attacks the prosecutor's closing argument, in which he stated, "It's like criminal behavior." (V11/T. 883). There was no objection to this comment and, as such, the claim is not preserved for appellate review. <u>Pedroza</u>, supra. Moreover, there was nothing improper about the comment. The prosecutor had been discussing the diagnosis of а personality disorder with antisocial features, noting that that "means he doesn't conform his conduct to the norms of society." (V11/T. 882-83). Immediately thereafter, the prosecutor explained that such non-conformity is "like criminal behavior. By doing things that you're not supposed to do, by satisfying your wants and needs without any regard for others. That's what anti-social behavior is." (V11/T. 883). Thus, the prosecutor was simply stating that non-conforming acts, such as criminal conduct, are the indicia of the personality disorder with antisocial features, and that was clearly an accurate assessment of the personality disorder. Thus, Dr. Benoit had explained the nature of the disorder, indicating that the substantial criminal history and number of documented sex offenses were indicia of the disorder. (V8/T. 472). Thus, this was simply a comment on the evidence of the nature of the disorder.

Lastly, the Petitioner attacks the prosecutor's comment that civil commitment, although indefinite, does not mean "forever."

(V11/T. 931-32). Once again, there was no objection to this and the issue is thus not preserved for appellate review. Pedroza, supra. The Petitioner states that defense counsel objected, in a motion for new trial, to the prosecutor's minimization of the post-commitment annual review process. (V12/T. 1005-20). As that argument, which was not a direct reference to the statement at issue herein, came after the jury verdict, it was not timely to preserve the issue for appeal. See, State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co. v. Dauksis, 596 So. 2d 1169, 1171 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992) (objection to closing argument must be contemporaneous); Page v. Cory Corp., 347 So. 2d 817, 818 (Fla. 3d DCA 1977) (objection to jury instructions after jury has retired was untimely).

The Petitioner further asserts that any harmless error analysis should be governed by <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). The State disagrees, as <u>DiGuilio</u> was a criminal case and the instant case is a civil commitment proceeding. While the instant case does involve a restraint on liberty, the harmless error analysis of <u>DiGuilio</u> should not be applied. First, the civil commitment proceeding requires only proof by clear and convincing evidence as opposed to the more stringent proof beyond a reasonable doubt in criminal cases, thus making the <u>DiGuilio</u> standard inappropriate. Second, the <u>DiGuilio</u> test for criminal cases was mandated by principles of

federal constitutional law as applied in criminal cases, such as Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18 (1967) (cited in DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d at 1134-35). No such mandate from the United States Supreme Court exists in the context of a civil commitment proceeding. Third, civil commitment proceedings have additional safety checks in place, beyond those of a criminal case. While a criminal case has limits on the nature of appellate review, and once those appellate and collateral review proceedings are concluded, the criminal case is effectively over, the commitment cases involve annual review proceedings and are going to be before the trial court year in, year out, until the individual is released, presenting numerous opportunities for mental health professionals to release a confined individual. If one is, for the sake of argument, wrongfully committed, mental health professionals could reasonably be expected to quickly spot such individuals and have them targeted for expedited completion of the treatment and ultimate release.

For such reasons, the test for determining whether an error is harmless is whether there is a reasonable probability that a different result would have been reached. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Chrysler v.</u> <u>Department of Professional Regulation</u>, 627 So. 2d 31 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); <u>Anthony v. Douglas</u>, 201 So. 2d 917 (Fla. 4th DCA 1967). In the context of any erroneously admitted evidence, the burden would be on the party obtaining the benefit of the

wrongfully admitted evidence. Flores v. Allstate Insurance Co., 819 So. 2d 740 (Fla. 2002); Sheffield v. Superior Insurance Co., 800 So. 2d 197 (Fla. 2001).

In any event, under either version of the harmless error test, in the instant case, any errors would be harmless for the reasons set forth above.

In light of the foregoing, there is no basis for reversal as a result of the combination of unpreserved and meritless claims.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, the decision of the lower court should be approved.